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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
EASTERN DISTRICT OF LOUISIANA

JORDELLA ROBINSON, CIVIL ACTION
INDIVIDUALLY AND AS A

REPRESENTATIVE OF A CLASS

OF SIMILARLY SITUATED

BORROWERS
VERSUS NO. 15-4123
STANDARD MORTGAGE SECTION: R

CORPORATION and STANDARD
MORTGAGE INSURANCE
AGENCY, INC.

ORDER AND REASONS

Defendants Standard Mortgage @oration and Standard Mortgage
Insurance Agency, Inc. move the Courtdismiss plaintiff's claims under the
Racketeer Influenced Corrupt Organipaits Act, 18 U.S.C. 88 1962(c) and
1962(d), for failure to state a claimBecause plaintiff fids to plausibly allege
racketeering activity based on the prade acts of mail fraud, wire fraud,

honest services fraud, or extortidhge Court grants defendants' motion.
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l. BACKGROUND

A. Defendants' Alleged Force-Placed Insurance
Arrangement

Mortgage lenders often require homeowners to maintaazard
insurance on the mortgaged propertyptotect the lender's interest in the
collateral. When a homeowner fails titain the required coverage, the
lender has the option to independently obtain iasuwe and add the cost of
the premiums to the principal due undke note. This is known as a "force-
placed" insurance policy or "lender-placed insumhcSee Caplen v. SN
Servicing Corp,.343 Fed. App'x 833, 834 (3d Cir. 2009).

In her Amended Complaint, Robinson alleges thah8tad Mortgage
Corporation, the servicer ofthe mortgage on henkpocolludes with Standard
Mortgage Insurance ("SM Insurance") to manipulatee tforce-placed
iInsurance market by artificially inflatg the amounts that borrowers pay for
coverag€. Accordingto Robinson, defendants' force-placeslirance scheme
proceeds as follows.

Standard Mortgage gives SM Insuranand its affiliates the exclusive
right to receive premiums for forceguded insurance for Standard Mortgage's

portfolio of loans whenever a borrowelilato obtain or maintain insurance
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coverag€. As part of the agreement, SM Insurance monitotan8ard
Mortgage's portfolio to ensure modaged properties remain adequately
insured? SM Insurance provides thisrséce to Standard Mortgage for only
nominal consideration.When a borrower fails tobtain insurance coverage,
Standard Mortgage and/or SM Inmsunce notify the borrower of the
deficiency® Ifthe borrower does not takerrective action, defendants force-
place insurance on the property, chaggpremiums that are allegedly well in
excess of the cost of borrower-obtained insuramse@ge’

Once force-placed insurance coage begins, Standard Mortgage
advances premiums to SM Insurance adds the cost of the advances to the
principal due under the borrower's n8t8M Insurance and its affiliates then
pay a portion of the premium back &andard Mortgage or to a subsidiary
allegedly posing as an insurance age®M Insurance styles these payments

as "commissions" allegedly on the preserthat a third party facilitated the
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pre-determined insurance transacttdn.The payments are allegedly a
"kickback" that SM Insurance paytandard Mortgage in exchange for the
privilege of collecting "inflated, noranpetitive” premiums from Standard
Mortgage's borrowerS. Together with the low-c&t monitoring services that
SM Insurance provides, these pagms significantly reduce Standard
Mortgage's force-placed insurance co$t®ut Standard Mortgage does not
pass these savings along to its borrowdristead, it allegedly "retains the
rebates/kickbacks itself" and falsetharges borrowers "based on the full
purported price of the force-placed insurante."

Allegedly, the harm to borrowersloes not stop with Standard
Mortgage's failure to pass along forceapéd insurance savings. Accordingto
Robinson, Standard Mortgage actively seeks foreagd insurance policies
that provide little value to its borrowets. Because Standard Mortgage's

kickback payments increase with gmoforce-placed insurance premiums,
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Standard Mortgage allegedly purchases the most resipe force-placed
insurance availabl®.

B. The Force-Placed Arrangement Applied to Robinson

Robinson alleges that she was wntized by defendants' force-placed
insurance scheme. The facts ofrhease, as alleged in the Amended
Complaint, are as follows. In 2004, Robinson pwshd a home in Harvey,
Louisiana and mortgaged ither lender, Standard MortgadeThe mortgage
agreement required Robinson to "inewall improvements on the Property,
whether now in existence or subsequently erectgdinast any hazards" and
mandated that the insurance "be ntained in the amounts and for the
periods that Lender require$." The agreement also authorized Standard
Mortgage to purchase insurance on thegarty if Robinson failed to do so
and to add the costs of the premiums to the primladjue under the not@.

Robinson initially purchased a homewer's insurance policy with an

annual premium of approximately $2,060.Eight years later, the policy
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lapsed?' On September 7, 2012, Standa#drtgage sent a letter to Robinson
notifying her that Standard Mortgag records reflected an absence of
coverage and requesting proof of insurance covevatjgn 20 days? The
letter informed Robinson that if sheddmot provide proof of coverage, "it will
be necessary for us to secure coverage at youmese® It further stated:

Because we will not have all of the information tlyau would

normally provide when purchasingwerage directly, the rate for

the coverage we acquire may be higher than what maght

otherwise be able to obtain. The premium will B28&20.002*

On October 26, 2012, Standard Maatg sent a nearly identical letter
to Robinson, again requesting proof of insurandéini 20 days and stating

that the premium for force-placed insurance wowdbld,845.2G° Like the

first letter, the October 26, 2012 lettexplained the high premium amount on

2'R. Doc. 40 at 3.

*2R. Doc. 38 at 13 1 5&ee alsdR. Doc. 39-4 at 1. When considering a motion to
dismiss, courts may rely upon "documentsdrnporated into the complaint by reference
...." Dorsey v. Portfolio Equities, Inc540 F.3d 333, 338 (5th Cir. 2008). Documents
"attache[d] to a motion to dismiss are consideradt pf the pleadings if they are
referred to in the plaintiffs complaint and arentmal to her claim."Collins v. Morgan
Stanley Dean Witter224 F.3d 496, 498-99 (5th Cir. 2000). Robinsoanmons
Standard Mortgage's letters in her comptaand relies on representations contained
within those letters for her mail and wire fraudiohs. The Court will therefore
consider the letters in their entiretynaling on defendants' motion to dismiss.
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the grounds that "we will not havdl @f the information that you would
normally provide when purchasing coverage direttly.

Ten weeks later, Standard Mortgagéormed Robinson that it still had
not received acceptable proof of hazardurance. By letter dated January 4,
2013, Standard Mortgage indicated thditad therefore secured an insurance
policy on the mortgaged propy at a cost of $8,845.28.The letter explained
that if Robinson provided Standard Mgage with proof of coverage under an
acceptable replacement policy, "wellvgancel our coverage and promptly
refund any unearned portion of the premiufh According to the Amended
Complaint, Standard Mortgage purchased the foreeqd insurance from SM
Insurance, and Standard Mortgage withdrew approk@iya$8,000 from
Robinson's escrow account to pay SM Insurance'sficatly inflated
premium?°

Robinson characterizes severakpects of Standard Mortgage's
communications as materially false amasleading. For instance, Standard

Mortgage's September 7, 2012 andtéer 26, 2012 letters stated that

2’ R. Doc. 39-6 at 1.
2"R. Doc. 38 at 14 1 63; R. Doc. 38-1at 10.
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Robinson's force-placed insurance piem would be higher due to Standard
Mortgage's lack of property and homeaosvnspecific information. Robinson
alleges that the premium was actuallgther because it included the cost of
cash and in-kind kickback for Standard MortgdYy&obinson further alleges
that "had [she] been aware that thigh premium Defendants asserted was
due, not to the cost of force-placausurance, but rather to a substantial
kickback to Standard Mortgage, hjs] would have procured her own
insurance

C. Robinson's Amended Claim and RICO Allegations

On September 3, 2015, Robinson fikkds putative class action lawsuit
against Standard Mortgage and SM Insurance. InPAmegnded Complaint,
Robinson alleges violations oftheéka&teer Influenced Corrupt Organizations
Act ("RICO"), 18 U.S.C. §1962(c) (Coulne); conspiracy to violate RICO, 18
U.S.C. 8§ 1962(d) (Count Tay; breach of the implied covenant of good faith
and fair dealing (Count Three); drunjust enrichment (Counts Four and
Five). Robinson asserts her ¢iMRICO and RICO conspiracy claims
individually and on behalf of a proposedtionwide class of "all persons who

have or had a mortgage loan or lineofdit owned, originated or serviced by

%1d. at 14 1 65, 67.
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Standard Mortgage and/or its affiliatescured by property located in the
United States and, in connection therdgwwere charged for ‘force-placed’
insurance on the secured propenyithin the applicable statute of

limitations.'®?

Robinson proposes a sub-class for her state lawns
comprised of similar property owners in Louisiafia.

As to her civil RICO claim, Robimm alleges an association-in-fact
enterprise comprised of Standamortgage, SM Insurance, and their
affiliates3* Allegedly, the enterprise hade common purpose of "defrauding
borrowers and loan owners by overchiarg them for force-placed insurance
with respect to Standard Mortgage-serviced log&nsRobinson alleges that
the enterprise engaged in a patternawketeering, marked by three predicate
acts. First, defendantsmonitted mailand wire frauch violation of 18 U.S.C.

88 1341 and 134%. In furtherance of a scheme to defraud borrowers,

defendants allegedly sent false and misleadingcestito Robinson and

21d.at 19 7 81.
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putative class members by mearisnail and wire communicatioff.Second,
defendants engaged in honest-servicasd, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1346.
Standard Mortgage allegedly "owed leghlties to render services to loan
owners and borrowers" but "misused itssgmn as the servicer of the loans
to extract bribes and kickbacks from SM Insuranie.Third, defendants
extorted or conspired to extort borrowansviolation of the Hobbs Act, 18
US.C. 8§ 1951(a). Specifically, defeanlts allegedly "used and attempted and
conspired to use, the actual or threa¢d fear of default and foreclosure to
induce" borrowers to pay kickbacks arek$ in excess of the costs of insuring
their properties?

D. Defendants'Motion to Dismiss

Standard Mortgage and SM Insuramceve to dismiss Robinson's civil
RICO claims under Federal Rule of Gikirocedure 12(b)(6), asserting several
arguments for dismissél. Specifically, defendant@rgue that Robinson fails
to plausibly allege (1) the existence ah enterprise that is distinct from

Standard Mortgage and SM Insurance,t{f predicate acts of mail and wire

%1d. at 28 { 128, 131, 134.
*1d. at 32 1 148.

*1d. at 33 7 151
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fraud, or (3) an injury proximately caused by a RI@olation. In addition,
defendants argue that Robinson failstate a RICO conspiracy claim because

she has not adequately pleaded an ulydeg, substantive RICO violation.

II. LEGAL STANDARD

To survive a Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss, tHaiptiff must plead
"enough facts to state a claim to relibfait is plausible on its face Ashcroft
v. Igbal 556 U.S. 662, 697 (2009) (quotimlgll Atl. Corp. v. Twombly550
U.S. 544,570 (2007)). Aclaim is fadly plausible when the plaintiff pleads
facts that allowthe court to "draw theasonable inference that the defendant
is liable for the misconduct alleged.ld. at 678. A court must accept all
well-pleaded facts as true and must diedlweasonable inferences in favor of
the plaintiff. See Lormand v. US Unwired, In&65 F.3d 228, 239 (5th Cir.
2009);Baker v. Putnal75 F.3d 190, 196 (5th Cir. 1996).

A legally sufficient complaint musestablish more than a "sheer
possibility" that the plaintiff's claim is truégbal, 556 U.S. at 678. It need not
contain detailed factual allegationbut it must go beyond labels, legal
conclusions, or formulaic recitations thfe elements of a cause of actidd.

In other words, the face of the complamust contain enough factual matter
to raise a reasonable expectation tdisicovery will reveal evidence of each
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element of the plaintiff's claim.Lormand 565 F.3d at 257. If there are
insufficient factual allegations to raiseright to relief above the speculative
level, or if it is apparent from th&ace of the complaint that there is an
insuperable bar to relief, &claim must be dismissedwombly, 550 U.S. at

555.

1. DISCUSSION

In Countlofthe Amended ComplairRobinson allegesthat defendants
violated RICO, 18 U.S.C. 8§1962(c), by overchardordgorce-placed insurance
and misleading borrowers about the reatmmnthe excessive prices. Section
1962(c) makes it unlawful "for any persemployed by or associated with any
enterprise engaged in, or the activite#swhich affect, interstate or foreign
commerce, to conduct or participatereattly or indirectly, in the conduct of
such enterprise's affairs through a pattef racketeering activity. . . .Id. at
1962(c). To withstand a motion to digsg, a civil RICO plaintiff must allege
facts sufficient to establish each oktlkssential elements of his or her RICO
claim. See Price v. Pinnacle Brands, Int38 F.3d 602, 606 (5th Cir. 1998).
A plaintiff must allege specific fastconcerning (1) the conduct (2) of an
enterprise (3) through a pattef) of racketeering activitySedima, S.P.R..L.
V.Imrex Co,473 U.S.479,496 (1985ee alsdlliott v. Foufas867 F.2d 877,
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880 (5th Cir. 1989) (finding that eacth RICO's essential elements "is a term
of art which carries its own inherent requiremerdf particularity").
Defendants argue that Robinson failsatbequately allege any elements of a
RICO cause of action.

A. The Person/Enterprise Distinction

Defendants' first argument implied the distinctiveness requirement
of section 1962(c). Because "a RI@@rson cannot employ or associate with
himself," Crowe v. Henry 43 F.3d 198, 206 (5th Cir. 1995), a plaintiff
asserting a section 1962(c) violation stidemonstrate the existence of two
distinct entities: "(1) a '‘person’; and)@n 'enterprise' that is not simply the
same 'person’ referred by a different name.'Cedric Kushner Promotions,
Ltd. v. King 533 U.S. 158, 161 (2003ee alsdld Time Enterprises, Inc. v.
Int'l Coffee Corp,862 F.2d 1213, 1217 (5th Ci©89) (notingthat the "person™
who engaged in racketeering "must begnhhbe distinct from the enterprise
whose affairs are thereby conducted”). Here, thmeAded Complaint
identifies two RICO "persons,” defendants Standatdrtgage and SM

Insurance--both of which are corporaticarsd which appear to be affiliatéd.

“t Although the Amended Complaint does not specifjcallege that Standard
Mortgage and SM Insurance are affiliated ¢ies, it does allege that both corporations
share the "Standard Mortgage" name and a sibgi&ness address. R. Doc. 39 at 4 | 15,
519 19.
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The alleged "enterprise" is an assd@n-in-fact consisting of Standard
Mortgage, SM Insurance, and unnamed affiliatesaahecorporatiort?
Defendants argue that because Robmalleges that Standard Mortgage
and SM Insurance are both RICO persamd members of an association-in-
fact enterprise, her civil RICO claifails the distinctiveness requirement as
a matter of law. In support, defendants ¢te Paul Mercury Ins. Co. v.
Williamson 224 F.3d 425 (5th Cir. 2000). There, the cowgjected the
argument that an individual defendanay never be both a RICO person and
one of several members of agsaciation-in-fact enterpriséd. at 446-47. In
sodoing,itreasoned that becauseigorate entity cannot simultaneously be
a "person” and an "enterprise," a different analysight apply when, as in
this case, the defendant is a corpoat rather than an individualSeeid.
The court explained that "[t]o get anod having a corporation named as both
a RICO defendant and a RICO enterpriseany plaintiffs have charged the
corporation as being part of an assoioatin-fact enterprise and also as a
RICO defendantCourts have roundly criticized this formulatidnd. at 447

n. 16 (emphasis added).

*R. Doc. 38 at 34 1 157.
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As a general rebuke of Robinson's pleading methaglglSt. Paul
Mercury supports defendants' position. BuBt. Paul Mercury is
distinguishable from this case becausevblved an individual defendant, not
a corporate entity like Standard Moaige or SM Insurance. Thus, the Court
Is not convinced by defendants' argument t&atPaul Mercurys footnote
constitutes a clear holding that two corptions can never serve as both RICO
persons and as members of as@ciation-in-fact enterpris€ompare Glob.
Oil Tools, Inc. v. BarnhillNo. CIV.A. 12-1507, 2012 WL 5866139, at *10 (E.D.
La. Nov. 19, 2012) (dismissing RICO claim when phaff alleged that a
corporation was both a "person" amdmember of an association-in-fact
enterprise);with Burford v. Carqill, Inc, No. CIV.A. 05-0283, 2011 WL
4382124, at *5 (W.D. La. Sept. 20, 2011) ("[A] corate defendant [can]
simultaneously be a RICO person aadnember of an association-in-fact
enterprise. . .." (quotingransFirst Holdings, Inc. v. PhillipdNo. 06—-2303,
2007 WL 1468553, *3 (N.D. Tex. May 18, 2007)).

The Court therefore turns to defendants' secondurment--that
Robinson fails to establish a ftarn of racketeering activity.

B. Pattern of Racketeering Activity

To allege a "pattern of racketeeriagtivity," a plaintiff must show that
the defendant committed two or more piede offenses that are (1) related
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and (2) amount to or pose a threatontinued criminal activityH.J. Inc. v.
Nw. Bell Tel. Cq.492 U.S. 229, 239 (1989). Predicate offensesunhe
violations of certain state and fedelals, including the wire and mail fraud
statutes and the Hobbs Act, which prohibits extmrti 18 U.S.C. § 1961(1).
Here, Robinson asserts that the predaatts of mail and wire fraud, honest
services fraud, and extortion providesthasis for the pattern of racketeering
needed for a RICO violation.
1. Mail and Wire Fraud

The elements of wire fraud are "@)pscheme to defraud, and (2) the use
of, or causing the use of, wire commurticas in furtherance ofthat scheme."
United States v. Rusl236 F. App'x 944, 947 (5th Cir. 2007). Proofeof
scheme to defraud requires a showing that the dkfeh possessed a
fraudulentintentld. "The elements of mail fraliare (1) a scheme to defraud,;
(2) use of the mails to execute the scheared (3) the specific intent on the
part of the defendant to defraudUnited States v. Smitld6 F. App'x 225,
2002 WL 1939843, at *2 (5th Cir. lul6, 2002). "Among other things, both
RICO mail and wire fraud require evidence of intémtiefraudj.e., evidence
of a scheme to defraud by falee fraudulent representations.St. Paul

Mercury Ins. Co. v. Willilamsqr224 F.3d 425, 441 (5th Cir. 2000).
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Ascheme to defraud is measured by a "nontechstealdard," rooted
in notions of moral uprightness, fundamental hogefir play, and right
dealing. United States v. Bruce488 F.2d 1224, 1229 (5th Cir. 1973).
Although this standard is broad, a soheeto defraud must involve fraudulent
misrepresentations or omissions "reaably calculated to deceive persons of
ordinary prudence and comprehensioddited Statesv. Nettervill653 F.2d
903, 909 (5th Cir. 1977).

Federal Rule of Civil Procedurel®(s pleading requirements apply to
RICO claims resting on allegations fvaud, and a plaintiff must plead his
fraud-based RICO claims with particular§ee Willamsv.WMX Techs., Inc.
112 F.3d 175, 177 (5th Cir. 1997). To satisfy Ra(b), "a plaintiff must state
the factual basis for the fraudulenaih with particularity and cannot rely on
speculation or conclusional allegationdJhited States ex rel. Rafizadeh v.
Continental Common, Inc553 F.3d 869, 873 (5th Cir. 2008). In general,
such a statement should include the '#inplace, and contents of the false
representation[ ], as well as thidentity of the person making the
misrepresentation and what thperson obtained thereby.U.S. ex rel.
Grubbs v. Kannegantb65 F.3d 180, 186 (5th Cir. 2009) (quotibgited

States ex rel. Russell v. Epic Healthcare Mgmt. 0193 F.3d 304, 308
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(5th Cir. 1999))see also United States ex rel. Thompson v. ColuhtHGa
Healthcare Corp,. 125 F.3d 899, 903 (5th Cir. 1997).

Here, manyof Robinson's fraud gjlions lack the specificity that Rule
9(b) demands. Forinstance, Robinsmmtends that Standard Mortgage and
SM Insurance initiated a number afail and/or wire communications,

including "notices," "monthly statements," "remiti@ reports,”and "monthly
servicing reports®® Although Robinson alleges) a conclusory manner, that
each communication was "mexially false and misleadind;"she provides no
details about the contents of any oéle documents. Nor does she specify
when defendants made these communications or tanwlspecifically, they
were directed. Such vague, generalgdiigons are plainly insufficient to state
a plausible claim for reliefSee, e.gGustafson v. BACHome Loans Servicing,
LP, No. SACV11-915-JST ANX, 2012 WL 7051318, at *6{C.D. Cal. Dec. 20,
2012) (dismissing fraud claim under Rule 9(b) whamplaint referred
generally to "notices, telephonealls, correspondence and other
communications")Hillv. Hunt, No. CIVA307-CV-2020-0, 2010 WL 54756,

at *4 (N.D. Tex. Jan. 4, 201@dismissing fraud claim under Rule 9(b) when

complaint did "not identify any padular mail or wire communication(s),

*R. Doc. 38 at 28-29 { 131.
*“1d.
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[defendant's] relationship to the communication(shen or how the
communication was made, or why the communicatios fwaudulent").
Robinson provides more detailedlegations concerning letters and
notices that Standard Mortgage sent her from Septn2012 to January
2013, but the disclosures contained hmse letters defeat any claim of fraud
or misrepresentation. As Robinsasknowledges, her mortgage agreement
required her to maintaimazard insurance and authorized Standard Mortgage
to force-place insurance on the mortgagegarty if Robinson failed to do 0.
After Robinson's borrower-obtainedsinarance lapsed, Standard Mortgage's
September 7, 2012 letter informed lodithe deficiency, asked her to submit
proof of insurance coverage, and stated that failto act would cause
Standard Mortgage to force-place insnca with a rate of coverage "higher
than what you might otherwise be able to obtdhlfideed, the letter defined
the cost of inaction with precisiorstating that "[tlhe premium will be
$8,820.00.* Thus, from the outset, Standard Mortgage inforrRetinson

that she would have to pay a substally higher premium--several times

*1d. at 12 1 54.
*°1d. at 13 1 58.

“"Id. Apparently, a later letter, dated October 26,2pdovided Robinson an
additional 20 days to provide proof of insurance amformed her that the force-placed
insurance premium would be $ 8,845.20. R. Doc63#t-1.
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more than what she had been paying--if force-placesirance became
necessary and urged Robinson to gike matter her attention. Standard
Mortgage's subsequent letters to Rwdon contained theame or similar
disclosured® And Robinson does not allegjeat her force-placed insurance
premium differed from the price the letters desedb

Despite these clear disclosureRobinson argues that Standard
Mortgage's letters were misleading because thaybaiited the high cost of
insurance to Standard Mortgage's lack of propenty homeowner-specific
information when, allegedly, bogus commissions astdder undisclosed
"kickbacks" were to blame. SimilarlRobinson contends that the letters' use
of the terms "rate of coverage" aridremium" is misleading because the
amount defendants charged Robinseas unmoored to the actual cost of
providing insurance coverage. These argumentsiapersuasive.

Standard Mortgage repeatedly warned Robinson thes kcked
adequate insurance and that failure to cure wouddnpt Standard Mortgage
to purchase force-placed insurance priced at n&®&)00. Like severalother
district courts that have considersanilar allegations in the force-placed

insurance context, the Court finds these disclosurneonsistent with a

“8 SeeR. Doc. 39-6 at 1.
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scheme to defraudSeeMeyer v. One W. Bank, F.S,B1F. Supp. 3d 1177,
1184 (C.D. Cal. 2015) (dismissing RIGfaim involving similar allegations,
reasoning that "[plaintiff's] toutred interpretation of relatively
straightforward language [in a force-placed insum&amotice letter] cannot
plausibly be read as evincing fraudulent inten®Wilson v. EverBank, N.A.
No. 14-CIV-22264, 2015 WL 160054%t *3 (S.D. Fla. Apr. 9, 2015)
(dismissing civilRICO claim when lenderformed borrower that force-placed
insurance would cost substantially mdhen borrower-obtained insurance
and that increased amount would be charged to bare);Gustafson2012
WL 7051318, at *7 (finding that sirtar force-placed insurance kickback and
nondisclosure claims fail as a matter of law).

Robinson correctly notes that othdistrict courts have reached a
different conclusion in similar lawsuitSee, e.gMontoyav. PNCBank, N.A.
94 F. Supp. 3d 1293, 1317-19 (S.D. Fla. 20P»rryman v. Litton Loan
Servicing, LPNo. 14-CV-02261-JST, 2014 W1954674, at *15 (N.D. Cal. Oct.
1, 2014);Cannon v. Wells Fargo Bank. N,ANo. C-12-1376 EMC, 2014 WL
324556, at *2-*3 (N.D. Cal. Jan. 29, 20). Butthese cases are not binding on
this Court, and the Court finds their dyses, or lack thereof, unpersuasive.

As explained, Standard Mortgage notified Robinsbmttfailing to
correct an insurance deficiency woulduédt in the imposition of force-placed
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iInsurance; it accuratelydisclosed theamt that Robinson would be charged
for force-placed insurance coverage; andformed Robinson that she would
probably be able to obtain less exgem coverage by purchasing her own
insurance policy. Robinson had prewsly obtained her own insurance on the
same property for four times lessoney. And she was given multiple
opportunities to avail herself of thaption to avoid a known higher cost to
herself. Simply put, “[tjhe Court caot see how letters that warn of an
imminent bad deal and urge one Bek better, could possibly be calculated
todeceive anyoneWeinberger v. Mellon Mortgage GiNo. CIV.A. 98-2490,
1998 WL 599192, at *5 (E.D. Pa. Sept. 10, 1998).

Moreover, setting aside the disclosailia Standard Mortgage's letters,
Robinson's "kickback" allegations arecially implausible. Robinson alleges
that SM Insurance pays commissionsStandard Mortgage and/or certain,
unnamed affiliate companies from itgé@-placed insurance premiums. She
further alleges that, in exchange for thght to serve as Standard Mortgage's
exclusive force-placed insurance piter, SM Insurance monitors Standard
Mortgage's property portfolio for insance gaps--allegedly for only nominal
consideration. Robinson labels these benefitkhacks." But, as the Seventh
Circuit explained in a recent forceguled insurance case, "simply calling [a]
commission a kickback doesn't make it on€dhen v. Am. Sec. Ins. C@35
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F.3d 601, 611 (7th Cir. 2013). Rather, "[t]lhe a&fig characteristic of a
kickback is divided loyalties.'ld.; see alsd~eaz v. Wells Fargo Bank, N ,A.
745 F.3d 1098, 1111 (11th Cir. 20 iame).

Standard Mortgage was not subjectdivided loyalties when it force-
placed insurance on Robinson's property. The nagggagreement makes
clear that the insurance requirement exists togutdhe lender'snterest in
the mortgaged property: "Borrower dhasure all immprovements on the
property...againstanyhazards, casga)and contingencies, includingfire,
for which Lender requires insurancdhis insurance shall be maintained in
the amounts and for the periodlsat Lender require$*®* The mortgage
agreement also empowers the lendeptotect its interest by "do[ing] and
pay[ing] whatever is nessary to protect the value of the Property and the
Lender's rights in the property. . *>"Nothing in these terms requires the
lender to purchase the cheapest insweaor the insurance that provides the
most value for the borrower. ThuStandard Mortgage did not act on
Robinson's behalfwhen it force-placedurance coverage; it acted to protect
its own interestin the mortgaged property-hainterest that Robinson

threatened by breaching her own taacttual duty to maintain insurance

“*R. Doc. 39-3 at 3.
01d. at 4.
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coverage. So although Robinson sykles her complaint with the "kickback™
label, the commissions and portfolio mitoring that SM Insurance provided
to Standard Mortgaged were "not kickback[s] in any meaningful sense."
Cohen 735 F.3d at 611 (holding thatmanission paid to mortgage lender's
affiliate for force-placinginsurance wast a "kickback"when the lender "was
subjecttoan undivided loyalty to itsedfind it made this clear from the start");
see alsdreaz 745 F.3d at 1111 (agreeing wi@lohers analysis)!

Given the clear disclosures in Sthard Mortgage's letters, as well as
Robinson's failure to plausibly allege unlawful kickback arrangement, the
Amended Complaint does not state arldor a violation of the federal mail
and wire fraud statutes.

2. Honest Services Fraud

Robinson also charges Standardrt@ge with honest services fraud.

"The elements ofhonest services frandude (1) a schemeto deprive another

ofthe right to honest services; (2) udehe mails and/ or wires to execute the

*LRobinson tries to distinguisBohenon the grounds that the mortgage lender in
that case disclosed that it would receive a commimsfom its force-placed insurance
provider, whereas Standard Mortgage's lettenstained no such disclosures. Robinson
also notes that the homeownerGohendid not allege that the commissions were
unearned, while Robinson makes that claim in heeAded Complaint. While
accurate, these distinctions miss the broader pbiat an unlawful kickback
arrangement requires divided loyaltie€Sohen 735 F. 3d at 611. No such division
appears from Robinson's welleaded factual allegations.
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scheme; and (3) materiality of the falsehoods erpgdoin the scheme.”
United States v. Hoeffng826 F.3d 857,868 (5th Cir. 2010). Accordinghe
Amended Complaint, Standard Mortgagwed borrowers a legal duty to
ensure continuous insurance cowgFaon mortgaged properties, and it
breached this duty by devising a schetm&extract bribeand kickbacks from
SM Insurance® These allegations share thersadefect as Robinson's mail
fraud and wire fraud claims--Robinsoffiégslure to plausibly allege a scheme
intended to deceive. Thus, Robinsohtmest services fraud claims also fail
to establish the predicate act that RICO demands.
3. Extortion

Finally, Robinson attempts to grod her RICO claim in the predicate
acts of extortion and conspiracy tacmit extortion in violation ofthe Hobbs
Act, 18 U.S.C. § 1951. Section 1951(b)@xfines "extortion" as "the obtaining
of property from another, with his coarst, induced by wrongful use of actual
or threatened force, violence, or fear under color of official right."

Robinson alleges that Standard Mortgage, SM Insceanand
unspecified affiliates "used, and attemg®nd conspired to use, the actual or

threatened fear of default and forealos to induce [Robinson] and the Class

2|d. at 32  148.
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to pay" premiums in excess of StamdaMortgage's force-placed insurance
costs>® But despite its length, the Amended Complaintsinet identify a
single, specific instance of threatagiconduct by either Standard Mortgage
or SM Insurance. Instead, it offeosily broad, general assertions such as
"Standard Mortgage routinely collectedpaid force-placed insurance charges
through foreclosure®® and "[Robinson] and the Class reasonably believed

. that Standard Mortgage would explfits apparent contractual] power and
foreclose if borrowers failed to gathe insurance charges that Standard
Mortgage and SM Insurance imposed.Such vague, conclusory allegations
are insufficient to state a plausible ention claim. Absent supporting factual
allegations, Robinson's claim must be dismiss8de Morris v. Green Tree
Servicing, LLCNo. 2:14-CV-01998-GMN, 2015 WL 4113212, at *13. (ev.
July 8, 2015)(characterizing allegation that defendant "threatkrthat
Plaintiff's credit would be destroyethat his home would be foreclosed on,
and that it was Plaintiff's fault that Hsan was in default” as conclusory and
insufficient to establish an extortion clainvlaldez v. Saxon Mortgage Servs.,

Inc., No. 2:14-CV-03595-CAS, 2014 WI9B8109, at *15 (C.D. Cal. Sept. 29,

*|d. at 33 7 151.
1d.at 33 1 153
%1d. at 33-34 1 154.
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2014) (dismissing extortion claim groued in allegation that defendants
"used, and attempted and conspired te,ube actual or threatened fear of
foreclosure to induce Plaintiff and ¢hClass to pay the improper charges
imposed" for failure to state a claim).

Even setting aside the dearth of well-pleaded faktallegations,
Robinson's extortion theoryis implailble. The Amended Complaint alleges
that Standard Mortgage coerced Rolmnsand similarly situated borrowers
into paying artificially-inflated forcezlaced insurance premiums. As noted,
however, Robinson had a contractual didynaintain continuous insurance
coverage on her mortgaged prope And while Standard Mortgage
eventually force-placed insurance Bobinson's property--as the mortgage
agreement expressly authorized it to dbe-thoice to purchase her own, less
expensive insurance was available Robinson at every turn. Standard
Mortgage explained this to Robinson on several sicoes. After Robinson's
borrower-obtained insurance lapsedarsdard Mortgage mailed Robinson a
series of letters asking her to submit proof ofewnnsurance policy and
warning that inaction would necessitdbece-placed insurance coverage at a

rate of $8,820° When force-placed insuraeaavent into effect, Standard

**R. Doc. 39-4 at 1; R. Doc. 39-6 at 1.
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Mortgage sent Robinson another letteminding her that she need only
present proof ofinsurance and the ®glaced insurance coverage would be
cancelled and the premium refunded on a pro rasisba

The Seventh Circuit addressed a similar situatio@ahen v. Am. Sec.
Ins.Co,735F.3d 601(7th Cir.2013). There, Wachovia&placed insurance
on a borrower, who sued under tHknlbis Consumer Fraud and Deceptive
Business Practices Act, alleging that she and ating class were "coerced
into having insurance provided by [arsurer] at a price far above that which
they had previously paid.fd. at 609. The district court dismissed this count
for failure to state a claim, and the Seventh Gra@affirmed. The court
explained that the borrower

never lacked a meaningful choice to avoid expenigsivder-placed

propertyinsurance. Wachovia remtied her at every step that she

could comply with her obligation to purchase insuca or have

the coverage placed by Wachovia at a much highst. cbo use

the lllinois Supreme Court's formulation, there was"total

absence ofoppressiveness"be@altalong she "could have gone

elsewhere" to buy cheaper insurance.
Id. at 610. AlthoughCoheninvolved claims under lllinois law, the Seventh

Circuit's analysis applies to Robinsom®bbs Act claims as well. Like the

borrower inCohen Robinson could have avoided force-placed insuedmnc

°"R. Doc. 38 at 14 1 63: R. Doc. 38-1at 10.
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simply purchasing borrower-obtained imance--insurancdhat her mortgage
agreement required her to maintaihhus, for all of Robinson's conclusory
assertions of extortion, the factdleged evince a "total absence of
oppressiveness" on the part of Standard Mortgage.

In sum, Amended Complaint fails to state a plawsilkelaim of
racketeering activity by Standard Mortgage or SMsunance. Although
Robinson has had two opportunitiepiead her claims--once with the benefit
of defendants' Rule 12(b)(6) motionallenging her original complaint--she
has failed to adequately allege maddrd, wire fraud, honest services fraud, or
extortion. Accordingly, Robinson'sivil RICO claim against Standard
Mortgage and SM Insurance must be dismissed.

C. Causation

Although Robinson's failure to pleadcketeering activity is itself fatal
to her claim, Robinson aldails to plausibly allegeausation. RICO provides
civilremedies to "[a]ny person injured in his bagss or property by reason
of a violation of section 1962." 18 U.S.C. § 1964 ("An injured party must
show that the violation was the butrfand proximate cause of the injury.”
Allstate Ins. Co.v. Plambec02 F.3d 665, 676 (5th Cir. 2015) (citiBgidge
v.Phoenix Bond &Indem. C&53 U.S. 639, 654 (2008)). In cases predicated
on mail or wire fraud, first-party tiance is not a necessary elemeBtidge,
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533 U.S. at 655-56. The Supreme @duas explained, however, that "in most
cases, the plaintiff will not be able tatablish even but-for causation ifno one
relied on the misrepresentationlti. at 658. In general, "a RICO plaintiff
alleging injury by reason of a pattern wifail fraud must establish at least
third-party reliance in order to prove causatiohd' at 659.

Here, Robinson's causation claim rest on allegatiof first-party
reliance. Robinson's core theorytisat Standard Mortgage's fraudulent
mailings led her to believe thaler force-placed insurance premium
represented the "actual cost of the ireuce policy,"” not a cost inflated by
undisclosed kickbacks. Robinson allesgbat these misrepresentations were
material to her decision-makingAccording to the Amended Complaint,
“[h]ad Plaintiff been aware that thegh premium Defendants asserted was
due, not to the cost of force-plac@usurance, but rather to a substantial
kickback to Standard Mortgage, Plaintiff would hapeocured her own
insurance .’ Defendants argue that this aftére-fact allegation is insufficient
to establish that Standard Mortgagehailings caused Robinson not to

purchase her own insurance to avoid the force-pladeernative.

® R. Doc. 38 at 39 1 183.
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The Court draws on "judicial experience and commsanse"” to
determine whether Robinson's Amendeaimplaint states a plausible claim
for relief. Ashcroft v. Igbal556 U.S. 662,697 (2009) (quotiBgll Atl. Corp.

v. Twombly 550 U.S. 544, 570 (2007)). Common sense cagtsifmant
doubt on Robinson's causation allagas. Standard Mortgage repeatedly
notified Robinson that her insuranceverage had lapsed and that, if she
failed to take corrective action, it wtd become "necessary for us to secure
coverage at your expens®."Standard Mortgage's letters did not mislead
Robinson about how much she would be charged faretplaced insurance
coverage; they plainly stated that "[t]he premiuiiti be $8,845.20 % Nor

did the letters attempt to "lull* Robinsa into inaction by suggesting, for
example, that Robinson would be unabdeobtain cheaper coverage on the
insurance marketCf. Smith v. Our Lady of the Lake Hosp., |60 F.2d
439, 445 (5th Cir. 1992) (recognizing that publicats, if used "to lull
[plaintiff] into not resisting the effortso fire him, . . . could be part of the
fraud underlying the RICO offense'"T.o the contrary, Standard Mortgages's

letters accurately explained that "thea#&or the coverage we acquire may be

R. Doc. 38 at 13  5&ge alsdR. Doc. 39-4 at 1.
®*R. Doc. 39-4 at 38 at 13 | 68ee alsdR. Doc. 39-6 at 1.
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higher than what you might loerwise be able to obtaifi*"Having previously
purchased her own insurance on the spmoperty for four times less money,
Robinson knew how much cheaper bawes-obtained insurance would likely
be. And she was given multiple opportuegito avail herself of that option to
avoid a known higher cost to herselhstead, she took no action, prompting
Standard Mortgage to force-placesurance on the mortgaged property.
Given herinaction in the face okaown, imminent detriment to herself,
Robinson's bare assertion that shellddrave acted differently had she known
that Standard Mortgage stotamlbenefit rings falseSeéeVNilson77 F. Supp. 3d
at 1227 ("Plaintiffs have not even akd with the requisite plausibility that,
but for EverBank's allegedly fraudulent conductaetjng the force-placed
insurance charges . . . Plaintiffs wduhot have paid the full force-placed
insurance charges but, rather, would have optdteeito now get their own
insurance. . .."). Absent additional factual gd&ons to support or explain
this assertion, Robinson's pleadings fail'nudge[] [her] claims across the
line from conceivable to plausibleTwombly, 550 U.S. at 547. Accordingly,

the Amended Complaint fails to plausilallege that Robinson's injuries were

®1R. Doc. 39-6 at 1.
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caused by Standard Mortgage's allegedil fraud, and Robinson's civil RICO
claims must be dismissed.

D. RICO Conspiracy

Countll ofthe Amended Complainieges that Standard Mortgage and
SM Insurance conspired to violate RI@Oviolation of 18 U.S.C. § 1962(d).
Because Robinson's allegations failst@ate a substantive RICO claim upon
which relief may be granted, her conspiracy clamisfas well. See Nolen v.
Nucentrix Broadband Networks In293 F.3d 926,930 (5th Cir.2002) ("The
failure to plead the requisite elemerakeither a § 1962(a) or a 8§ 1962(c)
violation implicitly means that [Nolendannot plead a conspiracy to violate
either section.")Howard v. Am. Online In¢.208 F.3d 741, 751 (9th Cir.
2000) ("Plaintiffs cannot claim that@nspiracy to violate RICO existed if
they do not adequately plead a substantive violabd RICO."); Efron v.
Embassy Suites (Puerto Rico), In223 F.3d 12, 21 (1st Cir. 2000) (same).
Therefore, the Court dismisses Robinson's RICO poasy claims against

both defendants.
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IV. CONCLUSION
For the foregoing reasons, the Qowrants defendants' motion to

dismiss Robinson's RICO claims.

New Orleans, Louisiana, thi’th  day of June, 2016

_______ 7,4422__‘}/_&_@_@;________

SARAH S. VANCE
UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE
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